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A  B I L L

To amend sections 2909.05, 2917.02, 2917.03, 

2917.11, 2923.31, and 2929.14 and to enact 

sections 2307.701, 2903.131, 2917.06, and 

2927.121 of the Revised Code to increase 

penalties for certain assault, vandalism, and 

riot offenses, to allow peace officers to bring 

civil suits against persons participating in a 

riot, and to prohibit bias motivated 

intimidation of first responders.

BE IT ENACTED BY THE GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF THE STATE OF OHIO:

Section 1. That sections 2909.05, 2917.02, 2917.03, 

2917.11, 2923.31, and 2929.14 be amended and sections 2307.701, 

2903.131, 2917.06, and 2927.121 of the Revised Code be enacted 

to read as follows:

Sec. 2307.701.   (A) As used in this section:  

(1) "Peace officer" has the same meaning as in section 
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2935.01 of the Revised Code.

(2) "Material support or resources" has the same meaning 

as in section 2909.21 of the Revised Code.

(3) "Organization" has the same meaning as in section 

2901.23 of the Revised Code.

(4) "Prohibited act" means any of the following:

(a) A violation of section 2917.02 or 2917.03 of the 

Revised Code;

(b) The filing of a complaint against a peace officer that 

the complainant knows to be false;

(c) An abridgement of a peace officer's civil rights.

(B) A peace officer who suffers injury or loss to person 

or property during the officer's performance of official duties 

as a result of a prohibited act committed against the peace 

officer has a civil action against the following:

(1) The responsible party who committed the prohibited 

act;

(2) Any organization that knowingly provided material 

support or resources to the responsible party and that knowingly 

directed, authorized, facilitated, or encouraged the responsible 

party to commit the prohibited act.

(C) An organization that knowingly provides material 

support or resources with purpose that the material support or 

resources will be used in whole or in part to plan, prepare, 

carry out, or aid in conduct that creates liability under 

division (B) of this section is responsible for that conduct and 

liable to the peace officer in treble the amount of damages 
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sustained as a result of the conduct.

Sec. 2903.131.   (A) As used in this section, "peace   

officer" has the same meaning as in section 2935.01 of the 

Revised Code.

(B) No person who is engaged in aggravated riot or riot in 

violation of section 2917.02 or 2917.03 of the Revised Code 

shall recklessly cause physical harm to another person.

(C) Whoever violates this section is guilty of riot 

assault. The penalty for the offense shall be determined as 

follows:

(1) Except as provided in divisions (C)(2) and (3) of this 

section, riot assault is a felony of the fifth degree.

(2) If the victim of the offense is a peace officer 

engaged in the performance of the peace officer's official 

duties, riot assault is a felony of the fourth degree.

(3) If the victim of the offense is a peace officer 

engaged in the performance of the peace officer's official 

duties and if the victim suffered serious physical harm as a 

result of the commission of the offense, riot assault is a 

felony of the third degree.

Sec. 2909.05. (A) No person shall knowingly cause serious 

physical harm to an occupied structure or any of its contents. 

(B)(1) No person shall knowingly recklessly cause physical 

harm to property that is owned or possessed by another, when 

either of the following applies:

(a) The property is used by its owner or possessor in the 

owner's or possessor's profession, business, trade, or 

occupation, and the value of the property or the amount of 
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physical harm involved is one thousand dollars or more;

(b) Regardless of the value of the property or the amount 

of damage done, the property or its equivalent is necessary in 

order for its owner or possessor to engage in the owner's or 

possessor's profession, business, trade, or occupation.

(2) No person shall knowingly cause serious physical harm 

to property that is owned, leased, or controlled by a 

governmental entity. A governmental entity includes, but is not 

limited to, the state or a political subdivision of the state, a 

school district, the board of trustees of a public library or 

public university, or any other body corporate and politic 

responsible for governmental activities only in geographical 

areas smaller than that of the state.

(C) No person, without privilege to do so, shall knowingly 

cause serious physical harm to any tomb, monument, gravestone, 

or other similar structure that is used as a memorial for the 

dead; to any fence, railing, curb, or other property that is 

used to protect, enclose, or ornament any cemetery; or to a 

cemetery.

(D) No person, without privilege to do so, shall knowingly 

cause physical harm to a place of burial by breaking and 

entering into a tomb, crypt, casket, or other structure that is 

used as a memorial for the dead or as an enclosure for the dead.

(E) No person, without privilege to do so, shall 

recklessly cause physical harm to any of the following property 

while engaging in aggravated riot or riot in violation of 

section 2917.02 or 2917.03 of the Revised Code:

(1) Property that is owned, leased, or controlled by a 

governmental entity;
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(2) A tomb, monument, gravestone, or other similar 

structure that is used as a memorial for the dead;

(3) A place of burial, memorial for the dead, or enclosure 

for the dead.

(F)(1) Whoever violates   division (A), (B), (C), or (D) of   

this section is guilty of vandalism. Except as otherwise 

provided in this division, vandalism is a felony of the fifth 

degree that is punishable by a fine of up to two thousand five 

hundred dollars in addition to the penalties specified for a 

felony of the fifth degree in sections 2929.11 to 2929.18 of the 

Revised Code. If the value of the property or the amount of 

physical harm involved is seven thousand five hundred dollars or 

more but less than one hundred fifty thousand dollars, vandalism 

is a felony of the fourth degree. If the value of the property 

or the amount of physical harm involved is one hundred fifty 

thousand dollars or more, vandalism is a felony of the third 

degree.

(2) Whoever violates division (E) of this section is 

guilty of riot vandalism, a felony of the fifth degree.

(F) (G) For purposes of this section:

(1) "Cemetery" means any place of burial and includes 

burial sites that contain American Indian burial objects placed 

with or containing American Indian human remains.

(2) "Serious physical harm" means physical harm to 

property that results in loss to the value of the property of 

one thousand dollars or more.

(3) "Governmental entity" includes, but is not limited to, 

the state or a political subdivision of the state, a school 

district, the board of trustees of a public library or public 
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university, or any other body corporate and politic responsible 

for governmental activities only in geographical areas smaller 

than that of the state.

Sec. 2917.02. (A) No person shall participate with four or 

more others in a course of disorderly conduct in violation of 

section 2917.11 of the Revised Code:

(1) With purpose to commit or facilitate the commission of 

a felony;

(2) With purpose to commit or facilitate the commission of 

any offense of violence;

(3) When the offender or any participant to the knowledge 

of the offender has on or about the offender's or participant's 

person or under the offender's or participant's control, uses, 

or intends to use a deadly weapon or dangerous ordnance, as 

defined in section 2923.11 of the Revised Code.

(B)(1) No person, being an inmate in a detention facility, 

shall violate division (A)(1) or (3) of this section.

(2) No person, being an inmate in a detention facility, 

shall violate division (A)(2) of this section or section 2917.03 

of the Revised Code.

(3) No person, in violating division (A) of this section, 

shall cause damage to property or injury to another person.

(C) Whoever violates this section is guilty of aggravated 

riot. A violation of division (A)(1) or (3) of this section is a 

felony of the fifth degree. A violation of division (A)(2) or 

(B)(1) of this section is a felony of the fourth degree. A 

violation of division (B)(2) or (3) of this section is a felony 

of the third degree.
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(D) As used in this section, "detention facility" has the 

same meaning as in section 2921.01 of the Revised Code.

Sec. 2917.03. (A) No person shall participate with four or 

more others in a course of disorderly conduct in violation of 

section 2917.11 of the Revised Code:

(1) With purpose to commit or facilitate the commission of 

a misdemeanor, other than disorderly conduct;

(2) With purpose to intimidate a public official or 

employee into taking or refraining from official action, or with 

purpose to hinder, impede, or obstruct a function of government;

(3) With purpose to hinder, impede, or obstruct the 

orderly process of administration or instruction at an 

educational institution, or to interfere with or disrupt lawful 

activities carried on at such institution.

(B) No person shall participate with four or more others 

with purpose to do an act with unlawful force or violence, even 

though such act might otherwise be lawful.

(C) Whoever violates this section is guilty of riot. The 

penalty for the offense shall be determined as follows:

(1) Except as provided in division (C)(2) of this section, 

riot is a misdemeanor of the first degree.

(2) If the offender, in committing a violation of this 

section, causes damage to property or injury to another person, 

riot is a felony of the fourth degree.

Sec. 2917.06.   (A) As used in this section, "place of   

public accommodation" has the same meaning as in section 4112.01 

of the Revised Code.
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(B) No person shall recklessly harass or intimidate 

another person in a place of public accommodation while the 

person is engaging in aggravated riot or riot in violation of 

section 2917.02 or 2917.03 of the Revised Code.

(C) A person who violates division (B) of this section is 

guilty of harassment in a place of public accommodation, a 

misdemeanor of the first degree.

Sec. 2917.11. (A) No person shall recklessly cause 

inconvenience, annoyance, or alarm to another by doing any of 

the following:

(1) Engaging in fighting, in threatening harm to persons 

or property, or in violent or turbulent behavior;

(2) Making unreasonable noise or an offensively coarse 

utterance, gesture, or display or communicating unwarranted and 

grossly abusive language to any person;

(3) Insulting, taunting, or challenging another, under 

circumstances in which that conduct is likely to provoke a 

violent response;

(4) Hindering or preventing the movement of persons on a 

public street, road, highway, or right-of-way, or to, from, 

within, or upon public or private property, so as to interfere 

with the rights of others, and by any act that serves no lawful 

and reasonable purpose of the offender;

(5) Creating a condition that is physically offensive to 

persons or that presents a risk of physical harm to persons or 

property, by any act that serves no lawful and reasonable 

purpose of the offender.

(B) No person, while voluntarily intoxicated, shall do 
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either of the following:

(1) In a public place or in the presence of two or more 

persons, engage in conduct likely to be offensive or to cause 

inconvenience, annoyance, or alarm to persons of ordinary 

sensibilities, which conduct the offender, if the offender were 

not intoxicated, should know is likely to have that effect on 

others;

(2) Engage in conduct or create a condition that presents 

a risk of physical harm to the offender or another, or to the 

property of another.

(C) Violation of any statute or ordinance of which an 

element is operating a motor vehicle, locomotive, watercraft, 

aircraft, or other vehicle while under the influence of alcohol 

or any drug of abuse, is not a violation of division (B) of this 

section.

(D) If a person appears to an ordinary observer to be 

intoxicated, it is probable cause to believe that person is 

voluntarily intoxicated for purposes of division (B) of this 

section.

(E)(1) Whoever violates this section is guilty of 

disorderly conduct.

(2) Except as otherwise provided in divisions (E)(3) and 

(4) of this section, disorderly conduct is a minor misdemeanor.

(3) Disorderly conduct is a misdemeanor of the fourth 

first degree if any of the following applies:

(a) The offender persists in disorderly conduct after 

reasonable warning or request to desist.

(b) The offense is committed in the vicinity of a school 
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or in a school safety zone.

(c) The offense is committed in the presence of any law 

enforcement officer, firefighter, rescuer, medical person, 

emergency medical services person, or other authorized person 

who is engaged in the person's duties at the scene of a fire, 

accident, disaster, riot, or emergency of any kind.

(d) The offense is committed in the presence of any 

emergency facility person who is engaged in the person's duties 

in an emergency facility.

(e) The offense occurs during one of the following:

(i) An aggravated riot or riot in violation of section 

2917.02 or 2917.03 of the Revised Code;

(ii) A protest, demonstration, or other assembly that 

involves the blockage of any public street, road, highway, or 

right-of-way to interfere with the rights of others, and for 

which no permit was issued or during which the scope of any 

issued permit was exceeded.

(4) If an offender previously has been convicted of or 

pleaded guilty to three or more violations of division (B) of 

this section, a violation of division (B) of this section is a 

misdemeanor of the fourth degree.

(F) As used in this section:

(1) "Emergency medical services person" is the singular of 

"emergency medical services personnel" as defined in section 

2133.21 of the Revised Code.

(2) "Emergency facility person" is the singular of 

"emergency facility personnel" as defined in section 2909.04 of 

the Revised Code.
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(3) "Emergency facility" has the same meaning as in 

section 2909.04 of the Revised Code.

(4) "Committed in the vicinity of a school" has the same 

meaning as in section 2925.01 of the Revised Code.

Sec. 2923.31. As used in sections 2923.31 to 2923.36 of 

the Revised Code:

(A) "Beneficial interest" means any of the following:

(1) The interest of a person as a beneficiary under a 

trust in which the trustee holds title to personal or real 

property;

(2) The interest of a person as a beneficiary under any 

other trust arrangement under which any other person holds title 

to personal or real property for the benefit of such person;

(3) The interest of a person under any other form of 

express fiduciary arrangement under which any other person holds 

title to personal or real property for the benefit of such 

person.

"Beneficial interest" does not include the interest of a 

stockholder in a corporation or the interest of a partner in 

either a general or limited partnership.

(B) "Costs of investigation and prosecution" and "costs of 

investigation and litigation" mean all of the costs incurred by 

the state or a county or municipal corporation under sections 

2923.31 to 2923.36 of the Revised Code in the prosecution and 

investigation of any criminal action or in the litigation and 

investigation of any civil action, and includes, but is not 

limited to, the costs of resources and personnel.

(C) "Enterprise" includes any individual, sole 

268

269

270

271

272

273

274

275

276

277

278

279

280

281

282

283

284

285

286

287

288

289

290

291

292

293

294

295



Sub. H. B. No. 109  Page 12
As Passed by the House

proprietorship, partnership, limited partnership, corporation, 

trust, union, government agency, or other legal entity, or any 

organization, association, or group of persons associated in 

fact although not a legal entity. "Enterprise" includes illicit 

as well as licit enterprises.

(D) "Innocent person" includes any bona fide purchaser of 

property that is allegedly involved in a violation of section 

2923.32 of the Revised Code, including any person who 

establishes a valid claim to or interest in the property in 

accordance with division (E) of section 2981.04 of the Revised 

Code, and any victim of an alleged violation of that section or 

of any underlying offense involved in an alleged violation of 

that section.

(E) "Pattern of corrupt activity" means two or more 

incidents of corrupt activity, whether or not there has been a 

prior conviction, that are related to the affairs of the same 

enterprise, are not isolated, and are not so closely related to 

each other and connected in time and place that they constitute 

a single event.

At least one of the incidents forming the pattern shall 

occur on or after January 1, 1986. Unless any incident was an 

aggravated murder or murder, the last of the incidents forming 

the pattern shall occur within six years after the commission of 

any prior incident forming the pattern, excluding any period of 

imprisonment served by any person engaging in the corrupt 

activity.

For the purposes of the criminal penalties that may be 

imposed pursuant to section 2923.32 of the Revised Code, at 

least one of the incidents forming the pattern shall constitute 

a felony under the laws of this state in existence at the time 
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it was committed or, if committed in violation of the laws of 

the United States or of any other state, shall constitute a 

felony under the law of the United States or the other state and 

would be a criminal offense under the law of this state if 

committed in this state.

(F) "Pecuniary value" means money, a negotiable 

instrument, a commercial interest, or anything of value, as 

defined in section 1.03 of the Revised Code, or any other 

property or service that has a value in excess of one hundred 

dollars.

(G) "Person" means any person, as defined in section 1.59 

of the Revised Code, and any governmental officer, employee, or 

entity.

(H) "Personal property" means any personal property, any 

interest in personal property, or any right, including, but not 

limited to, bank accounts, debts, corporate stocks, patents, or 

copyrights. Personal property and any beneficial interest in 

personal property are deemed to be located where the trustee of 

the property, the personal property, or the instrument 

evidencing the right is located.

(I) "Corrupt activity" means engaging in, attempting to 

engage in, conspiring to engage in, or soliciting, coercing, or 

intimidating another person to engage in any of the following:

(1) Conduct defined as "racketeering activity" under the 

"Organized Crime Control Act of 1970," 84 Stat. 941, 18 U.S.C. 

1961(1)(B), (1)(C), (1)(D), and (1)(E), as amended;

(2) Conduct constituting any of the following:

(a) A violation of section 1315.55, 1322.07, 2903.01, 

2903.02, 2903.03, 2903.04, 2903.11, 2903.12, 2905.01, 2905.02, 
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2905.11, 2905.22, 2905.32 as specified in division (I)(2)(g) of 

this section, 2907.321, 2907.322, 2907.323, 2909.02, 2909.03, 

2909.22, 2909.23, 2909.24, 2909.26, 2909.27, 2909.28, 2909.29, 

2911.01, 2911.02, 2911.11, 2911.12, 2911.13, 2911.31, 2913.05, 

2913.06, 2913.30, 2921.02, 2921.03, 2921.04, 2921.11, 2921.12, 

2921.32, 2921.41, 2921.42, 2921.43, 2923.12, or 2923.17; 

division (F)(1)(a), (b), or (c) of section 1315.53; division (A)

(1) or (2) of section 1707.042; division (B), (C)(4), (D), (E), 

or (F) of section 1707.44; division (A)(1) or (2) of section 

2923.20; division (E) or (G) of section 3772.99; division (J)(1) 

of section 4712.02; section 4719.02, 4719.05, or 4719.06; 

division (C), (D), or (E) of section 4719.07; section 4719.08; 

or division (A) of section 4719.09 of the Revised Code.

(b) Any violation of section 3769.11, 3769.15, 3769.16, or 

3769.19 of the Revised Code as it existed prior to July 1, 1996, 

any violation of section 2915.02 of the Revised Code that occurs 

on or after July 1, 1996, and that, had it occurred prior to 

that date, would have been a violation of section 3769.11 of the 

Revised Code as it existed prior to that date, or any violation 

of section 2915.05 of the Revised Code that occurs on or after 

July 1, 1996, and that, had it occurred prior to that date, 

would have been a violation of section 3769.15, 3769.16, or 

3769.19 of the Revised Code as it existed prior to that date.

(c) Any violation of section 2907.21, 2907.22, 2907.31, 

2913.02, 2913.11, 2913.21, 2913.31, 2913.32, 2913.34, 2913.42, 

2913.47, 2913.51, 2915.03, 2925.03, 2925.04, 2925.05, or 2925.37 

of the Revised Code, any violation of section 2925.11 of the 

Revised Code that is a felony of the first, second, third, or 

fourth degree and that occurs on or after July 1, 1996, any 

violation of section 2915.02 of the Revised Code that occurred 

prior to July 1, 1996, any violation of section 2915.02 of the 
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Revised Code that occurs on or after July 1, 1996, and that, had 

it occurred prior to that date, would not have been a violation 

of section 3769.11 of the Revised Code as it existed prior to 

that date, any violation of section 2915.06 of the Revised Code 

as it existed prior to July 1, 1996, or any violation of 

division (B) of section 2915.05 of the Revised Code as it exists 

on and after July 1, 1996, when the proceeds of the violation, 

the payments made in the violation, the amount of a claim for 

payment or for any other benefit that is false or deceptive and 

that is involved in the violation, or the value of the 

contraband or other property illegally possessed, sold, or 

purchased in the violation exceeds one thousand dollars, or any 

combination of violations described in division (I)(2)(c) of 

this section when the total proceeds of the combination of 

violations, payments made in the combination of violations, 

amount of the claims for payment or for other benefits that is 

false or deceptive and that is involved in the combination of 

violations, or value of the contraband or other property 

illegally possessed, sold, or purchased in the combination of 

violations exceeds one thousand dollars;

(d) Any violation of section 5743.112 of the Revised Code 

when the amount of unpaid tax exceeds one hundred dollars;

(e) Any violation or combination of violations of section 

2907.32 of the Revised Code involving any material or 

performance containing a display of bestiality or of sexual 

conduct, as defined in section 2907.01 of the Revised Code, that 

is explicit and depicted with clearly visible penetration of the 

genitals or clearly visible penetration by the penis of any 

orifice when the total proceeds of the violation or combination 

of violations, the payments made in the violation or combination 

of violations, or the value of the contraband or other property 
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illegally possessed, sold, or purchased in the violation or 

combination of violations exceeds one thousand dollars;

(f) Any combination of violations described in division 

(I)(2)(c) of this section and violations of section 2907.32 of 

the Revised Code involving any material or performance 

containing a display of bestiality or of sexual conduct, as 

defined in section 2907.01 of the Revised Code, that is explicit 

and depicted with clearly visible penetration of the genitals or 

clearly visible penetration by the penis of any orifice when the 

total proceeds of the combination of violations, payments made 

in the combination of violations, amount of the claims for 

payment or for other benefits that is false or deceptive and 

that is involved in the combination of violations, or value of 

the contraband or other property illegally possessed, sold, or 

purchased in the combination of violations exceeds one thousand 

dollars;

(g) Any violation of section 2905.32 of the Revised Code 

to the extent the violation is not based solely on the same 

conduct that constitutes corrupt activity pursuant to division 

(I)(2)(c) of this section due to the conduct being in violation 

of section 2907.21 of the Revised Code.

(3) Conduct constituting a violation of any law of any 

state other than this state that is substantially similar to the 

conduct described in division (I)(2) of this section, provided 

the defendant was convicted of the conduct in a criminal 

proceeding in the other state;

(4) Animal or ecological terrorism;

(5)(a) Conduct constituting any of the following:

(i) Organized retail theft;
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(ii) Conduct that constitutes one or more violations of 

any law of any state other than this state, that is 

substantially similar to organized retail theft, and that if 

committed in this state would be organized retail theft, if the 

defendant was convicted of or pleaded guilty to the conduct in a 

criminal proceeding in the other state.

(b) By enacting division (I)(5)(a) of this section, it is 

the intent of the general assembly to add organized retail theft 

and the conduct described in division (I)(5)(a)(ii) of this 

section as conduct constituting corrupt activity. The enactment 

of division (I)(5)(a) of this section and the addition by 

division (I)(5)(a) of this section of organized retail theft and 

the conduct described in division (I)(5)(a)(ii) of this section 

as conduct constituting corrupt activity does not limit or 

preclude, and shall not be construed as limiting or precluding, 

any prosecution for a violation of section 2923.32 of the 

Revised Code that is based on one or more violations of section 

2913.02 or 2913.51 of the Revised Code, one or more similar 

offenses under the laws of this state or any other state, or any 

combination of any of those violations or similar offenses, even 

though the conduct constituting the basis for those violations 

or offenses could be construed as also constituting organized 

retail theft or conduct of the type described in division (I)(5)

(a)(ii) of this section.

(6) Knowingly providing material support or resources with 

purpose that the material support or resources will be used in 

whole or in part to plan, prepare, carry out, or aid in conduct 

that constitutes a violation of section 2917.02 or 2917.03 of 

the Revised Code;

(7) Organizing persons or calling persons to gather for 
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the purpose of violating section 2917.02 or 2917.03 of the 

Revised Code.

(J) "Real property" means any real property or any 

interest in real property, including, but not limited to, any 

lease of, or mortgage upon, real property. Real property and any 

beneficial interest in it is deemed to be located where the real 

property is located.

(K) "Trustee" means any of the following:

(1) Any person acting as trustee under a trust in which 

the trustee holds title to personal or real property;

(2) Any person who holds title to personal or real 

property for which any other person has a beneficial interest;

(3) Any successor trustee.

"Trustee" does not include an assignee or trustee for an 

insolvent debtor or an executor, administrator, administrator 

with the will annexed, testamentary trustee, guardian, or 

committee, appointed by, under the control of, or accountable to 

a court.

(L) "Unlawful debt" means any money or other thing of 

value constituting principal or interest of a debt that is 

legally unenforceable in this state in whole or in part because 

the debt was incurred or contracted in violation of any federal 

or state law relating to the business of gambling activity or 

relating to the business of lending money at an usurious rate 

unless the creditor proves, by a preponderance of the evidence, 

that the usurious rate was not intentionally set and that it 

resulted from a good faith error by the creditor, 

notwithstanding the maintenance of procedures that were adopted 

by the creditor to avoid an error of that nature.
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(M) "Animal activity" means any activity that involves the 

use of animals or animal parts, including, but not limited to, 

hunting, fishing, trapping, traveling, camping, the production, 

preparation, or processing of food or food products, clothing or 

garment manufacturing, medical research, other research, 

entertainment, recreation, agriculture, biotechnology, or 

service activity that involves the use of animals or animal 

parts.

(N) "Animal facility" means a vehicle, building, 

structure, nature preserve, or other premises in which an animal 

is lawfully kept, handled, housed, exhibited, bred, or offered 

for sale, including, but not limited to, a zoo, rodeo, circus, 

amusement park, hunting preserve, or premises in which a horse 

or dog event is held.

(O) "Animal or ecological terrorism" means the commission 

of any felony that involves causing or creating a substantial 

risk of physical harm to any property of another, the use of a 

deadly weapon or dangerous ordnance, or purposely, knowingly, or 

recklessly causing serious physical harm to property and that 

involves an intent to obstruct, impede, or deter any person from 

participating in a lawful animal activity, from mining, 

foresting, harvesting, gathering, or processing natural 

resources, or from being lawfully present in or on an animal 

facility or research facility.

(P) "Research facility" means a place, laboratory, 

institution, medical care facility, government facility, or 

public or private educational institution in which a scientific 

test, experiment, or investigation involving the use of animals 

or other living organisms is lawfully carried out, conducted, or 

attempted.
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(Q) "Organized retail theft" means the theft of retail 

property with a retail value of one thousand dollars or more 

from one or more retail establishments with the intent to sell, 

deliver, or transfer that property to a retail property fence.

(R) "Retail property" means any tangible personal property 

displayed, held, stored, or offered for sale in or by a retail 

establishment.

(S) "Retail property fence" means a person who possesses, 

procures, receives, or conceals retail property that was 

represented to the person as being stolen or that the person 

knows or believes to be stolen.

(T) "Retail value" means the full retail value of the 

retail property. In determining whether the retail value of 

retail property equals or exceeds one thousand dollars, the 

value of all retail property stolen from the retail 

establishment or retail establishments by the same person or 

persons within any one-hundred-eighty-day period shall be 

aggregated.

(U) "Material support or resources" has the same meaning 

as in section 2909.21 of the Revised Code.

Sec. 2927.121.   (A) As used in this section, "first   

responder" has the same meaning as in section 4765.01 of the 

Revised Code, except that it also includes any firefighter or 

paramedic as defined in section 4765.01 of the Revised Code, and 

any peace officer as defined in section 2935.01 of the Revised 

Code.

(B) No person shall do any of the following maliciously 

and with the specific intent to intimidate, harass, or terrorize 

another person because of that person's actual or perceived 
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employment as a first responder:

(1) Cause death or serious bodily harm to another person;

(2) Cause damage to or destroy any real or personal 

property of a person without permission when the amount of the 

damage or the value of the property destroyed exceeds five 

hundred dollars.

(C) A person who violates division (B) of this section is 

guilty of bias motivated intimidation, a felony of the third 

degree. 

(D) Each violation of this section shall constitute a 

separate offense and shall not merge with any other offense 

under section 2941.25 of the Revised Code.

Sec. 2929.14. (A) Except as provided in division (B)(1), 

(B)(2), (B)(3), (B)(4), (B)(5), (B)(6), (B)(7), (B)(8), (B)(9), 

(B)(10), (B)(11), (E), (G), (H), (J), or (K) of this section or 

in division (D)(6) of section 2919.25 of the Revised Code and 

except in relation to an offense for which a sentence of death 

or life imprisonment is to be imposed, if the court imposing a 

sentence upon an offender for a felony elects or is required to 

impose a prison term on the offender pursuant to this chapter, 

the court shall impose a prison term that shall be one of the 

following:

(1)(a) For a felony of the first degree committed on or 

after the effective date of this amendment, the prison term 

shall be an indefinite prison term with a stated minimum term 

selected by the court of three, four, five, six, seven, eight, 

nine, ten, or eleven years and a maximum term that is determined 

pursuant to section 2929.144 of the Revised Code, except that if 

the section that criminalizes the conduct constituting the 
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felony specifies a different minimum term or penalty for the 

offense, the specific language of that section shall control in 

determining the minimum term or otherwise sentencing the 

offender but the minimum term or sentence imposed under that 

specific language shall be considered for purposes of the 

Revised Code as if it had been imposed under this division.

(b) For a felony of the first degree committed prior to 

the effective date of this amendment, the prison term shall be a 

definite prison term of three, four, five, six, seven, eight, 

nine, ten, or eleven years.

(2)(a) For a felony of the second degree committed on or 

after the effective date of this amendment, the prison term 

shall be an indefinite prison term with a stated minimum term 

selected by the court of two, three, four, five, six, seven, or 

eight years and a maximum term that is determined pursuant to 

section 2929.144 of the Revised Code, except that if the section 

that criminalizes the conduct constituting the felony specifies 

a different minimum term or penalty for the offense, the 

specific language of that section shall control in determining 

the minimum term or otherwise sentencing the offender but the 

minimum term or sentence imposed under that specific language 

shall be considered for purposes of the Revised Code as if it 

had been imposed under this division.

(b) For a felony of the second degree committed prior to 

the effective date of this amendment, the prison term shall be a 

definite term of two, three, four, five, six, seven, or eight 

years.

(3)(a) For a felony of the third degree that is a 

violation of section 2903.06, 2903.08, 2907.03, 2907.04, 

2907.05, 2907.321, 2907.322, 2907.323,   2927.121,   or 3795.04 of 
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the Revised Code or that is a violation of section 2911.02 or 

2911.12 of the Revised Code if the offender previously has been 

convicted of or pleaded guilty in two or more separate 

proceedings to two or more violations of section 2911.01, 

2911.02, 2911.11, or 2911.12 of the Revised Code, the prison 

term shall be a definite term of twelve, eighteen, twenty-four, 

thirty, thirty-six, forty-two, forty-eight, fifty-four, or sixty 

months.

(b) For a felony of the third degree that is not an 

offense for which division (A)(3)(a) of this section applies, 

the prison term shall be a definite term of nine, twelve, 

eighteen, twenty-four, thirty, or thirty-six months.

(4) For a felony of the fourth degree, the prison term 

shall be a definite term of six, seven, eight, nine, ten, 

eleven, twelve, thirteen, fourteen, fifteen, sixteen, seventeen, 

or eighteen months.

(5) For a felony of the fifth degree, the prison term 

shall be a definite term of six, seven, eight, nine, ten, 

eleven, or twelve months.

(B)(1)(a) Except as provided in division (B)(1)(e) of this 

section, if an offender who is convicted of or pleads guilty to 

a felony also is convicted of or pleads guilty to a 

specification of the type described in section 2941.141, 

2941.144, or 2941.145 of the Revised Code, the court shall 

impose on the offender one of the following prison terms:

(i) A prison term of six years if the specification is of 

the type described in division (A) of section 2941.144 of the 

Revised Code that charges the offender with having a firearm 

that is an automatic firearm or that was equipped with a firearm 
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muffler or suppressor on or about the offender's person or under 

the offender's control while committing the offense;

(ii) A prison term of three years if the specification is 

of the type described in division (A) of section 2941.145 of the 

Revised Code that charges the offender with having a firearm on 

or about the offender's person or under the offender's control 

while committing the offense and displaying the firearm, 

brandishing the firearm, indicating that the offender possessed 

the firearm, or using it to facilitate the offense;

(iii) A prison term of one year if the specification is of 

the type described in division (A) of section 2941.141 of the 

Revised Code that charges the offender with having a firearm on 

or about the offender's person or under the offender's control 

while committing the offense;

(iv) A prison term of nine years if the specification is 

of the type described in division (D) of section 2941.144 of the 

Revised Code that charges the offender with having a firearm 

that is an automatic firearm or that was equipped with a firearm 

muffler or suppressor on or about the offender's person or under 

the offender's control while committing the offense and 

specifies that the offender previously has been convicted of or 

pleaded guilty to a specification of the type described in 

section 2941.141, 2941.144, 2941.145, 2941.146, or 2941.1412 of 

the Revised Code;

(v) A prison term of fifty-four months if the 

specification is of the type described in division (D) of 

section 2941.145 of the Revised Code that charges the offender 

with having a firearm on or about the offender's person or under 

the offender's control while committing the offense and 

displaying the firearm, brandishing the firearm, indicating that 
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the offender possessed the firearm, or using the firearm to 

facilitate the offense and that the offender previously has been 

convicted of or pleaded guilty to a specification of the type 

described in section 2941.141, 2941.144, 2941.145, 2941.146, or 

2941.1412 of the Revised Code;

(vi) A prison term of eighteen months if the specification 

is of the type described in division (D) of section 2941.141 of 

the Revised Code that charges the offender with having a firearm 

on or about the offender's person or under the offender's 

control while committing the offense and that the offender 

previously has been convicted of or pleaded guilty to a 

specification of the type described in section 2941.141, 

2941.144, 2941.145, 2941.146, or 2941.1412 of the Revised Code.

(b) If a court imposes a prison term on an offender under 

division (B)(1)(a) of this section, the prison term shall not be 

reduced pursuant to section 2967.19, section 2929.20, section 

2967.193, or any other provision of Chapter 2967. or Chapter 

5120. of the Revised Code. Except as provided in division (B)(1)

(g) of this section, a court shall not impose more than one 

prison term on an offender under division (B)(1)(a) of this 

section for felonies committed as part of the same act or 

transaction.

(c)(i) Except as provided in division (B)(1)(e) of this 

section, if an offender who is convicted of or pleads guilty to 

a violation of section 2923.161 of the Revised Code or to a 

felony that includes, as an essential element, purposely or 

knowingly causing or attempting to cause the death of or 

physical harm to another, also is convicted of or pleads guilty 

to a specification of the type described in division (A) of 

section 2941.146 of the Revised Code that charges the offender 
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with committing the offense by discharging a firearm from a 

motor vehicle other than a manufactured home, the court, after 

imposing a prison term on the offender for the violation of 

section 2923.161 of the Revised Code or for the other felony 

offense under division (A), (B)(2), or (B)(3) of this section, 

shall impose an additional prison term of five years upon the 

offender that shall not be reduced pursuant to section 2929.20, 

section 2967.19, section 2967.193, or any other provision of 

Chapter 2967. or Chapter 5120. of the Revised Code.

(ii) Except as provided in division (B)(1)(e) of this 

section, if an offender who is convicted of or pleads guilty to 

a violation of section 2923.161 of the Revised Code or to a 

felony that includes, as an essential element, purposely or 

knowingly causing or attempting to cause the death of or 

physical harm to another, also is convicted of or pleads guilty 

to a specification of the type described in division (C) of 

section 2941.146 of the Revised Code that charges the offender 

with committing the offense by discharging a firearm from a 

motor vehicle other than a manufactured home and that the 

offender previously has been convicted of or pleaded guilty to a 

specification of the type described in section 2941.141, 

2941.144, 2941.145, 2941.146, or 2941.1412 of the Revised Code, 

the court, after imposing a prison term on the offender for the 

violation of section 2923.161 of the Revised Code or for the 

other felony offense under division (A), (B)(2), or (3) of this 

section, shall impose an additional prison term of ninety months 

upon the offender that shall not be reduced pursuant to section 

2929.20, 2967.19, 2967.193, or any other provision of Chapter 

2967. or Chapter 5120. of the Revised Code.

(iii) A court shall not impose more than one additional 

prison term on an offender under division (B)(1)(c) of this 
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section for felonies committed as part of the same act or 

transaction. If a court imposes an additional prison term on an 

offender under division (B)(1)(c) of this section relative to an 

offense, the court also shall impose a prison term under 

division (B)(1)(a) of this section relative to the same offense, 

provided the criteria specified in that division for imposing an 

additional prison term are satisfied relative to the offender 

and the offense.

(d) If an offender who is convicted of or pleads guilty to 

an offense of violence that is a felony also is convicted of or 

pleads guilty to a specification of the type described in 

section 2941.1411 of the Revised Code that charges the offender 

with wearing or carrying body armor while committing the felony 

offense of violence, the court shall impose on the offender an 

additional prison term of two years. The prison term so imposed, 

subject to divisions (C) to (I) of section 2967.19 of the 

Revised Code, shall not be reduced pursuant to section 2929.20, 

section 2967.19, section 2967.193, or any other provision of 

Chapter 2967. or Chapter 5120. of the Revised Code. A court 

shall not impose more than one prison term on an offender under 

division (B)(1)(d) of this section for felonies committed as 

part of the same act or transaction. If a court imposes an 

additional prison term under division (B)(1)(a) or (c) of this 

section, the court is not precluded from imposing an additional 

prison term under division (B)(1)(d) of this section.

(e) The court shall not impose any of the prison terms 

described in division (B)(1)(a) of this section or any of the 

additional prison terms described in division (B)(1)(c) of this 

section upon an offender for a violation of section 2923.12 or 

2923.123 of the Revised Code. The court shall not impose any of 

the prison terms described in division (B)(1)(a) or (b) of this 
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section upon an offender for a violation of section 2923.122 

that involves a deadly weapon that is a firearm other than a 

dangerous ordnance, section 2923.16, or section 2923.121 of the 

Revised Code. The court shall not impose any of the prison terms 

described in division (B)(1)(a) of this section or any of the 

additional prison terms described in division (B)(1)(c) of this 

section upon an offender for a violation of section 2923.13 of 

the Revised Code unless all of the following apply:

(i) The offender previously has been convicted of 

aggravated murder, murder, or any felony of the first or second 

degree.

(ii) Less than five years have passed since the offender 

was released from prison or post-release control, whichever is 

later, for the prior offense.

(f)(i) If an offender is convicted of or pleads guilty to 

a felony that includes, as an essential element, causing or 

attempting to cause the death of or physical harm to another and 

also is convicted of or pleads guilty to a specification of the 

type described in division (A) of section 2941.1412 of the 

Revised Code that charges the offender with committing the 

offense by discharging a firearm at a peace officer as defined 

in section 2935.01 of the Revised Code or a corrections officer, 

as defined in section 2941.1412 of the Revised Code, the court, 

after imposing a prison term on the offender for the felony 

offense under division (A), (B)(2), or (B)(3) of this section, 

shall impose an additional prison term of seven years upon the 

offender that shall not be reduced pursuant to section 2929.20, 

section 2967.19, section 2967.193, or any other provision of 

Chapter 2967. or Chapter 5120. of the Revised Code.

(ii) If an offender is convicted of or pleads guilty to a 
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felony that includes, as an essential element, causing or 

attempting to cause the death of or physical harm to another and 

also is convicted of or pleads guilty to a specification of the 

type described in division (B) of section 2941.1412 of the 

Revised Code that charges the offender with committing the 

offense by discharging a firearm at a peace officer, as defined 

in section 2935.01 of the Revised Code, or a corrections 

officer, as defined in section 2941.1412 of the Revised Code, 

and that the offender previously has been convicted of or 

pleaded guilty to a specification of the type described in 

section 2941.141, 2941.144, 2941.145, 2941.146, or 2941.1412 of 

the Revised Code, the court, after imposing a prison term on the 

offender for the felony offense under division (A), (B)(2), or 

(3) of this section, shall impose an additional prison term of 

one hundred twenty-six months upon the offender that shall not 

be reduced pursuant to section 2929.20, 2967.19, 2967.193, or 

any other provision of Chapter 2967. or 5120. of the Revised 

Code.

(iii) If an offender is convicted of or pleads guilty to 

two or more felonies that include, as an essential element, 

causing or attempting to cause the death or physical harm to 

another and also is convicted of or pleads guilty to a 

specification of the type described under division (B)(1)(f) of 

this section in connection with two or more of the felonies of 

which the offender is convicted or to which the offender pleads 

guilty, the sentencing court shall impose on the offender the 

prison term specified under division (B)(1)(f) of this section 

for each of two of the specifications of which the offender is 

convicted or to which the offender pleads guilty and, in its 

discretion, also may impose on the offender the prison term 

specified under that division for any or all of the remaining 
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specifications. If a court imposes an additional prison term on 

an offender under division (B)(1)(f) of this section relative to 

an offense, the court shall not impose a prison term under 

division (B)(1)(a) or (c) of this section relative to the same 

offense.

(g) If an offender is convicted of or pleads guilty to two 

or more felonies, if one or more of those felonies are 

aggravated murder, murder, attempted aggravated murder, 

attempted murder, aggravated robbery, felonious assault, or 

rape, and if the offender is convicted of or pleads guilty to a 

specification of the type described under division (B)(1)(a) of 

this section in connection with two or more of the felonies, the 

sentencing court shall impose on the offender the prison term 

specified under division (B)(1)(a) of this section for each of 

the two most serious specifications of which the offender is 

convicted or to which the offender pleads guilty and, in its 

discretion, also may impose on the offender the prison term 

specified under that division for any or all of the remaining 

specifications.

(2)(a) If division (B)(2)(b) of this section does not 

apply, the court may impose on an offender, in addition to the 

longest prison term authorized or required for the offense or, 

for offenses for which division (A)(1)(a) or (2)(a) of this 

section applies, in addition to the longest minimum prison term 

authorized or required for the offense, an additional definite 

prison term of one, two, three, four, five, six, seven, eight, 

nine, or ten years if all of the following criteria are met:

(i) The offender is convicted of or pleads guilty to a 

specification of the type described in section 2941.149 of the 

Revised Code that the offender is a repeat violent offender.
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(ii) The offense of which the offender currently is 

convicted or to which the offender currently pleads guilty is 

aggravated murder and the court does not impose a sentence of 

death or life imprisonment without parole, murder, terrorism and 

the court does not impose a sentence of life imprisonment 

without parole, any felony of the first degree that is an 

offense of violence and the court does not impose a sentence of 

life imprisonment without parole, or any felony of the second 

degree that is an offense of violence and the trier of fact 

finds that the offense involved an attempt to cause or a threat 

to cause serious physical harm to a person or resulted in 

serious physical harm to a person.

(iii) The court imposes the longest prison term for the 

offense or the longest minimum prison term for the offense, 

whichever is applicable, that is not life imprisonment without 

parole.

(iv) The court finds that the prison terms imposed 

pursuant to division (B)(2)(a)(iii) of this section and, if 

applicable, division (B)(1) or (3) of this section are 

inadequate to punish the offender and protect the public from 

future crime, because the applicable factors under section 

2929.12 of the Revised Code indicating a greater likelihood of 

recidivism outweigh the applicable factors under that section 

indicating a lesser likelihood of recidivism.

(v) The court finds that the prison terms imposed pursuant 

to division (B)(2)(a)(iii) of this section and, if applicable, 

division (B)(1) or (3) of this section are demeaning to the 

seriousness of the offense, because one or more of the factors 

under section 2929.12 of the Revised Code indicating that the 

offender's conduct is more serious than conduct normally 
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constituting the offense are present, and they outweigh the 

applicable factors under that section indicating that the 

offender's conduct is less serious than conduct normally 

constituting the offense.

(b) The court shall impose on an offender the longest 

prison term authorized or required for the offense or, for 

offenses for which division (A)(1)(a) or (2)(a) of this section 

applies, the longest minimum prison term authorized or required 

for the offense, and shall impose on the offender an additional 

definite prison term of one, two, three, four, five, six, seven, 

eight, nine, or ten years if all of the following criteria are 

met:

(i) The offender is convicted of or pleads guilty to a 

specification of the type described in section 2941.149 of the 

Revised Code that the offender is a repeat violent offender.

(ii) The offender within the preceding twenty years has 

been convicted of or pleaded guilty to three or more offenses 

described in division (CC)(1) of section 2929.01 of the Revised 

Code, including all offenses described in that division of which 

the offender is convicted or to which the offender pleads guilty 

in the current prosecution and all offenses described in that 

division of which the offender previously has been convicted or 

to which the offender previously pleaded guilty, whether 

prosecuted together or separately.

(iii) The offense or offenses of which the offender 

currently is convicted or to which the offender currently pleads 

guilty is aggravated murder and the court does not impose a 

sentence of death or life imprisonment without parole, murder, 

terrorism and the court does not impose a sentence of life 

imprisonment without parole, any felony of the first degree that 
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is an offense of violence and the court does not impose a 

sentence of life imprisonment without parole, or any felony of 

the second degree that is an offense of violence and the trier 

of fact finds that the offense involved an attempt to cause or a 

threat to cause serious physical harm to a person or resulted in 

serious physical harm to a person.

(c) For purposes of division (B)(2)(b) of this section, 

two or more offenses committed at the same time or as part of 

the same act or event shall be considered one offense, and that 

one offense shall be the offense with the greatest penalty.

(d) A sentence imposed under division (B)(2)(a) or (b) of 

this section shall not be reduced pursuant to section 2929.20, 

section 2967.19, or section 2967.193, or any other provision of 

Chapter 2967. or Chapter 5120. of the Revised Code. The offender 

shall serve an additional prison term imposed under division (B)

(2)(a) or (b) of this section consecutively to and prior to the 

prison term imposed for the underlying offense.

(e) When imposing a sentence pursuant to division (B)(2)

(a) or (b) of this section, the court shall state its findings 

explaining the imposed sentence.

(3) Except when an offender commits a violation of section 

2903.01 or 2907.02 of the Revised Code and the penalty imposed 

for the violation is life imprisonment or commits a violation of 

section 2903.02 of the Revised Code, if the offender commits a 

violation of section 2925.03 or 2925.11 of the Revised Code and 

that section classifies the offender as a major drug offender, 

if the offender commits a violation of section 2925.05 of the 

Revised Code and division (E)(1) of that section classifies the 

offender as a major drug offender, if the offender commits a 

felony violation of section 2925.02, 2925.04, 2925.05, 2925.36, 
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3719.07, 3719.08, 3719.16, 3719.161, 4729.37, or 4729.61, 

division (C) or (D) of section 3719.172, division (E) of section 

4729.51, or division (J) of section 4729.54 of the Revised Code 

that includes the sale, offer to sell, or possession of a 

schedule I or II controlled substance, with the exception of 

marihuana, and the court imposing sentence upon the offender 

finds that the offender is guilty of a specification of the type 

described in division (A) of section 2941.1410 of the Revised 

Code charging that the offender is a major drug offender, if the 

court imposing sentence upon an offender for a felony finds that 

the offender is guilty of corrupt activity with the most serious 

offense in the pattern of corrupt activity being a felony of the 

first degree, or if the offender is guilty of an attempted 

violation of section 2907.02 of the Revised Code and, had the 

offender completed the violation of section 2907.02 of the 

Revised Code that was attempted, the offender would have been 

subject to a sentence of life imprisonment or life imprisonment 

without parole for the violation of section 2907.02 of the 

Revised Code, the court shall impose upon the offender for the 

felony violation a mandatory prison term determined as described 

in this division that, subject to divisions (C) to (I) of 

section 2967.19 of the Revised Code, cannot be reduced pursuant 

to section 2929.20, section 2967.19, or any other provision of 

Chapter 2967. or 5120. of the Revised Code. The mandatory prison 

term shall be the maximum definite prison term prescribed in 

division (A)(1)(b) of this section for a felony of the first 

degree, except that for offenses for which division (A)(1)(a) of 

this section applies, the mandatory prison term shall be the 

longest minimum prison term prescribed in that division for the 

offense.

(4) If the offender is being sentenced for a third or 
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fourth degree felony OVI offense under division (G)(2) of 

section 2929.13 of the Revised Code, the sentencing court shall 

impose upon the offender a mandatory prison term in accordance 

with that division. In addition to the mandatory prison term, if 

the offender is being sentenced for a fourth degree felony OVI 

offense, the court, notwithstanding division (A)(4) of this 

section, may sentence the offender to a definite prison term of 

not less than six months and not more than thirty months, and if 

the offender is being sentenced for a third degree felony OVI 

offense, the sentencing court may sentence the offender to an 

additional prison term of any duration specified in division (A)

(3) of this section. In either case, the additional prison term 

imposed shall be reduced by the sixty or one hundred twenty days 

imposed upon the offender as the mandatory prison term. The 

total of the additional prison term imposed under division (B)

(4) of this section plus the sixty or one hundred twenty days 

imposed as the mandatory prison term shall equal a definite term 

in the range of six months to thirty months for a fourth degree 

felony OVI offense and shall equal one of the authorized prison 

terms specified in division (A)(3) of this section for a third 

degree felony OVI offense. If the court imposes an additional 

prison term under division (B)(4) of this section, the offender 

shall serve the additional prison term after the offender has 

served the mandatory prison term required for the offense. In 

addition to the mandatory prison term or mandatory and 

additional prison term imposed as described in division (B)(4) 

of this section, the court also may sentence the offender to a 

community control sanction under section 2929.16 or 2929.17 of 

the Revised Code, but the offender shall serve all of the prison 

terms so imposed prior to serving the community control 

sanction.
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If the offender is being sentenced for a fourth degree 

felony OVI offense under division (G)(1) of section 2929.13 of 

the Revised Code and the court imposes a mandatory term of local 

incarceration, the court may impose a prison term as described 

in division (A)(1) of that section.

(5) If an offender is convicted of or pleads guilty to a 

violation of division (A)(1) or (2) of section 2903.06 of the 

Revised Code and also is convicted of or pleads guilty to a 

specification of the type described in section 2941.1414 of the 

Revised Code that charges that the victim of the offense is a 

peace officer, as defined in section 2935.01 of the Revised 

Code, or an investigator of the bureau of criminal 

identification and investigation, as defined in section 2903.11 

of the Revised Code, the court shall impose on the offender a 

prison term of five years. If a court imposes a prison term on 

an offender under division (B)(5) of this section, the prison 

term, subject to divisions (C) to (I) of section 2967.19 of the 

Revised Code, shall not be reduced pursuant to section 2929.20, 

section 2967.19, section 2967.193, or any other provision of 

Chapter 2967. or Chapter 5120. of the Revised Code. A court 

shall not impose more than one prison term on an offender under 

division (B)(5) of this section for felonies committed as part 

of the same act.

(6) If an offender is convicted of or pleads guilty to a 

violation of division (A)(1) or (2) of section 2903.06 of the 

Revised Code and also is convicted of or pleads guilty to a 

specification of the type described in section 2941.1415 of the 

Revised Code that charges that the offender previously has been 

convicted of or pleaded guilty to three or more violations of 

division (A) or (B) of section 4511.19 of the Revised Code or an 

equivalent offense, as defined in section 2941.1415 of the 

1017

1018

1019

1020

1021

1022

1023

1024

1025

1026

1027

1028

1029

1030

1031

1032

1033

1034

1035

1036

1037

1038

1039

1040

1041

1042

1043

1044

1045

1046

1047



Sub. H. B. No. 109  Page 37
As Passed by the House

Revised Code, or three or more violations of any combination of 

those divisions and offenses, the court shall impose on the 

offender a prison term of three years. If a court imposes a 

prison term on an offender under division (B)(6) of this 

section, the prison term, subject to divisions (C) to (I) of 

section 2967.19 of the Revised Code, shall not be reduced 

pursuant to section 2929.20, section 2967.19, section 2967.193, 

or any other provision of Chapter 2967. or Chapter 5120. of the 

Revised Code. A court shall not impose more than one prison term 

on an offender under division (B)(6) of this section for 

felonies committed as part of the same act.

(7)(a) If an offender is convicted of or pleads guilty to 

a felony violation of section 2905.01, 2905.02, 2907.21, 

2907.22, or 2923.32, division (A)(1) or (2) of section 2907.323 

involving a minor, or division (B)(1), (2), (3), (4), or (5) of 

section 2919.22 of the Revised Code and also is convicted of or 

pleads guilty to a specification of the type described in 

section 2941.1422 of the Revised Code that charges that the 

offender knowingly committed the offense in furtherance of human 

trafficking, the court shall impose on the offender a mandatory 

prison term that is one of the following:

(i) If the offense is a felony of the first degree, a 

definite prison term of not less than five years and not greater 

than eleven years, except that if the offense is a felony of the 

first degree committed on or after the effective date of this 

amendment, the court shall impose as the minimum prison term a 

mandatory term of not less than five years and not greater than 

eleven years;

(ii) If the offense is a felony of the second or third 

degree, a definite prison term of not less than three years and 
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not greater than the maximum prison term allowed for the offense 

by division (A)(2)(b) or (3) of this section, except that if the 

offense is a felony of the second degree committed on or after 

the effective date of this amendment, the court shall impose as 

the minimum prison term a mandatory term of not less than three 

years and not greater than eight years;

(iii) If the offense is a felony of the fourth or fifth 

degree, a definite prison term that is the maximum prison term 

allowed for the offense by division (A) of section 2929.14 of 

the Revised Code.

(b) Subject to divisions (C) to (I) of section 2967.19 of 

the Revised Code, the prison term imposed under division (B)(7)

(a) of this section shall not be reduced pursuant to section 

2929.20, section 2967.19, section 2967.193, or any other 

provision of Chapter 2967. of the Revised Code. A court shall 

not impose more than one prison term on an offender under 

division (B)(7)(a) of this section for felonies committed as 

part of the same act, scheme, or plan.

(8) If an offender is convicted of or pleads guilty to a 

felony violation of section 2903.11, 2903.12, or 2903.13 of the 

Revised Code and also is convicted of or pleads guilty to a 

specification of the type described in section 2941.1423 of the 

Revised Code that charges that the victim of the violation was a 

woman whom the offender knew was pregnant at the time of the 

violation, notwithstanding the range prescribed in division (A) 

of this section as the definite prison term or minimum prison 

term for felonies of the same degree as the violation, the court 

shall impose on the offender a mandatory prison term that is 

either a definite prison term of six months or one of the prison 

terms prescribed in division (A) of this section for felonies of 
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the same degree as the violation, except that if the violation 

is a felony of the first or second degree committed on or after 

the effective date of this amendment, the court shall impose as 

the minimum prison term under division (A)(1)(a) or (2)(a) of 

this section a mandatory term that is one of the terms 

prescribed in that division, whichever is applicable, for the 

offense.

(9)(a) If an offender is convicted of or pleads guilty to 

a violation of division (A)(1) or (2) of section 2903.11 of the 

Revised Code and also is convicted of or pleads guilty to a 

specification of the type described in section 2941.1425 of the 

Revised Code, the court shall impose on the offender a mandatory 

prison term of six years if either of the following applies:

(i) The violation is a violation of division (A)(1) of 

section 2903.11 of the Revised Code and the specification 

charges that the offender used an accelerant in committing the 

violation and the serious physical harm to another or to 

another's unborn caused by the violation resulted in a 

permanent, serious disfigurement or permanent, substantial 

incapacity;

(ii) The violation is a violation of division (A)(2) of 

section 2903.11 of the Revised Code and the specification 

charges that the offender used an accelerant in committing the 

violation, that the violation caused physical harm to another or 

to another's unborn, and that the physical harm resulted in a 

permanent, serious disfigurement or permanent, substantial 

incapacity.

(b) If a court imposes a prison term on an offender under 

division (B)(9)(a) of this section, the prison term shall not be 

reduced pursuant to section 2929.20, section 2967.19, section 
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2967.193, or any other provision of Chapter 2967. or Chapter 

5120. of the Revised Code. A court shall not impose more than 

one prison term on an offender under division (B)(9) of this 

section for felonies committed as part of the same act.

(c) The provisions of divisions (B)(9) and (C)(6) of this 

section and of division (D)(2) of section 2903.11, division (F)

(20) of section 2929.13, and section 2941.1425 of the Revised 

Code shall be known as "Judy's Law."

(10) If an offender is convicted of or pleads guilty to a 

violation of division (A) of section 2903.11 of the Revised Code 

and also is convicted of or pleads guilty to a specification of 

the type described in section 2941.1426 of the Revised Code that 

charges that the victim of the offense suffered permanent 

disabling harm as a result of the offense and that the victim 

was under ten years of age at the time of the offense, 

regardless of whether the offender knew the age of the victim, 

the court shall impose upon the offender an additional definite 

prison term of six years. A prison term imposed on an offender 

under division (B)(10) of this section shall not be reduced 

pursuant to section 2929.20, section 2967.193, or any other 

provision of Chapter 2967. or Chapter 5120. of the Revised Code. 

If a court imposes an additional prison term on an offender 

under this division relative to a violation of division (A) of 

section 2903.11 of the Revised Code, the court shall not impose 

any other additional prison term on the offender relative to the 

same offense.

(11) If an offender is convicted of or pleads guilty to a 

felony violation of section 2925.03 or 2925.05 of the Revised 

Code or a felony violation of section 2925.11 of the Revised 

Code for which division (C)(11) of that section applies in 
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determining the sentence for the violation, if the drug involved 

in the violation is a fentanyl-related compound or a compound, 

mixture, preparation, or substance containing a fentanyl-related 

compound, and if the offender also is convicted of or pleads 

guilty to a specification of the type described in division (B) 

of section 2941.1410 of the Revised Code that charges that the 

offender is a major drug offender, in addition to any other 

penalty imposed for the violation, the court shall impose on the 

offender a mandatory prison term of three, four, five, six, 

seven, or eight years. If a court imposes a prison term on an 

offender under division (B)(11) of this section, the prison 

term, subject to divisions (C) to (I) of section 2967.19 of the 

Revised Code, shall not be reduced pursuant to section 2929.20, 

2967.19, or 2967.193, or any other provision of Chapter 2967. or 

5120. of the Revised Code. A court shall not impose more than 

one prison term on an offender under division (B)(11) of this 

section for felonies committed as part of the same act.

(C)(1)(a) Subject to division (C)(1)(b) of this section, 

if a mandatory prison term is imposed upon an offender pursuant 

to division (B)(1)(a) of this section for having a firearm on or 

about the offender's person or under the offender's control 

while committing a felony, if a mandatory prison term is imposed 

upon an offender pursuant to division (B)(1)(c) of this section 

for committing a felony specified in that division by 

discharging a firearm from a motor vehicle, or if both types of 

mandatory prison terms are imposed, the offender shall serve any 

mandatory prison term imposed under either division 

consecutively to any other mandatory prison term imposed under 

either division or under division (B)(1)(d) of this section, 

consecutively to and prior to any prison term imposed for the 

underlying felony pursuant to division (A), (B)(2), or (B)(3) of 
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this section or any other section of the Revised Code, and 

consecutively to any other prison term or mandatory prison term 

previously or subsequently imposed upon the offender.

(b) If a mandatory prison term is imposed upon an offender 

pursuant to division (B)(1)(d) of this section for wearing or 

carrying body armor while committing an offense of violence that 

is a felony, the offender shall serve the mandatory term so 

imposed consecutively to any other mandatory prison term imposed 

under that division or under division (B)(1)(a) or (c) of this 

section, consecutively to and prior to any prison term imposed 

for the underlying felony under division (A), (B)(2), or (B)(3) 

of this section or any other section of the Revised Code, and 

consecutively to any other prison term or mandatory prison term 

previously or subsequently imposed upon the offender.

(c) If a mandatory prison term is imposed upon an offender 

pursuant to division (B)(1)(f) of this section, the offender 

shall serve the mandatory prison term so imposed consecutively 

to and prior to any prison term imposed for the underlying 

felony under division (A), (B)(2), or (B)(3) of this section or 

any other section of the Revised Code, and consecutively to any 

other prison term or mandatory prison term previously or 

subsequently imposed upon the offender.

(d) If a mandatory prison term is imposed upon an offender 

pursuant to division (B)(7) or (8) of this section, the offender 

shall serve the mandatory prison term so imposed consecutively 

to any other mandatory prison term imposed under that division 

or under any other provision of law and consecutively to any 

other prison term or mandatory prison term previously or 

subsequently imposed upon the offender.

(e) If a mandatory prison term is imposed upon an offender 
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pursuant to division (B)(11) of this section, the offender shall 

serve the mandatory prison term consecutively to any other 

mandatory prison term imposed under that division, consecutively 

to and prior to any prison term imposed for the underlying 

felony, and consecutively to any other prison term or mandatory 

prison term previously or subsequently imposed upon the 

offender.

(2) If an offender who is an inmate in a jail, prison, or 

other residential detention facility violates section 2917.02, 

2917.03, or 2921.35 of the Revised Code or division (A)(1) or 

(2) of section 2921.34 of the Revised Code, if an offender who 

is under detention at a detention facility commits a felony 

violation of section 2923.131 of the Revised Code, or if an 

offender who is an inmate in a jail, prison, or other 

residential detention facility or is under detention at a 

detention facility commits another felony while the offender is 

an escapee in violation of division (A)(1) or (2) of section 

2921.34 of the Revised Code, any prison term imposed upon the 

offender for one of those violations shall be served by the 

offender consecutively to the prison term or term of 

imprisonment the offender was serving when the offender 

committed that offense and to any other prison term previously 

or subsequently imposed upon the offender.

(3) If a prison term is imposed for a violation of 

division (B) of section 2911.01 of the Revised Code, a violation 

of division (A) of section 2913.02 of the Revised Code in which 

the stolen property is a firearm or dangerous ordnance, or a 

felony violation of division (B) of section 2921.331 of the 

Revised Code, the offender shall serve that prison term 

consecutively to any other prison term or mandatory prison term 

previously or subsequently imposed upon the offender.
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(4) If multiple prison terms are imposed on an offender 

for convictions of multiple offenses, the court may require the 

offender to serve the prison terms consecutively if the court 

finds that the consecutive service is necessary to protect the 

public from future crime or to punish the offender and that 

consecutive sentences are not disproportionate to the 

seriousness of the offender's conduct and to the danger the 

offender poses to the public, and if the court also finds any of 

the following:

(a) The offender committed one or more of the multiple 

offenses while the offender was awaiting trial or sentencing, 

was under a sanction imposed pursuant to section 2929.16, 

2929.17, or 2929.18 of the Revised Code, or was under post-

release control for a prior offense.

(b) At least two of the multiple offenses were committed 

as part of one or more courses of conduct, and the harm caused 

by two or more of the multiple offenses so committed was so 

great or unusual that no single prison term for any of the 

offenses committed as part of any of the courses of conduct 

adequately reflects the seriousness of the offender's conduct.

(c) The offender's history of criminal conduct 

demonstrates that consecutive sentences are necessary to protect 

the public from future crime by the offender.

(5) If a mandatory prison term is imposed upon an offender 

pursuant to division (B)(5) or (6) of this section, the offender 

shall serve the mandatory prison term consecutively to and prior 

to any prison term imposed for the underlying violation of 

division (A)(1) or (2) of section 2903.06 of the Revised Code 

pursuant to division (A) of this section or section 2929.142 of 

the Revised Code. If a mandatory prison term is imposed upon an 
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offender pursuant to division (B)(5) of this section, and if a 

mandatory prison term also is imposed upon the offender pursuant 

to division (B)(6) of this section in relation to the same 

violation, the offender shall serve the mandatory prison term 

imposed pursuant to division (B)(5) of this section 

consecutively to and prior to the mandatory prison term imposed 

pursuant to division (B)(6) of this section and consecutively to 

and prior to any prison term imposed for the underlying 

violation of division (A)(1) or (2) of section 2903.06 of the 

Revised Code pursuant to division (A) of this section or section 

2929.142 of the Revised Code.

(6) If a mandatory prison term is imposed on an offender 

pursuant to division (B)(9) of this section, the offender shall 

serve the mandatory prison term consecutively to and prior to 

any prison term imposed for the underlying violation of division 

(A)(1) or (2) of section 2903.11 of the Revised Code and 

consecutively to and prior to any other prison term or mandatory 

prison term previously or subsequently imposed on the offender.

(7) If a mandatory prison term is imposed on an offender 

pursuant to division (B)(10) of this section, the offender shall 

serve that mandatory prison term consecutively to and prior to 

any prison term imposed for the underlying felonious assault. 

Except as otherwise provided in division (C) of this section, 

any other prison term or mandatory prison term previously or 

subsequently imposed upon the offender may be served 

concurrently with, or consecutively to, the prison term imposed 

pursuant to division (B)(10) of this section.

(8) Any prison term imposed for a violation of section 

2903.04 of the Revised Code that is based on a violation of 

section 2925.03 or 2925.11 of the Revised Code or on a violation 
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of section 2925.05 of the Revised Code that is not funding of 

marihuana trafficking shall run consecutively to any prison term 

imposed for the violation of section 2925.03 or 2925.11 of the 

Revised Code or for the violation of section 2925.05 of the 

Revised Code that is not funding of marihuana trafficking.

(9) When consecutive prison terms are imposed pursuant to 

division (C)(1), (2), (3), (4), (5), (6), (7), or (8) or 

division (H)(1) or (2) of this section, subject to division (C)

(10) of this section, the term to be served is the aggregate of 

all of the terms so imposed.

(10) When a court sentences an offender to a non-life 

felony indefinite prison term, any definite prison term or 

mandatory definite prison term previously or subsequently 

imposed on the offender in addition to that indefinite sentence 

that is required to be served consecutively to that indefinite 

sentence shall be served prior to the indefinite sentence.

(11) If a court is sentencing an offender for a felony of 

the first or second degree, if division (A)(1)(a) or (2)(a) of 

this section applies with respect to the sentencing for the 

offense, and if the court is required under the Revised Code 

section that sets forth the offense or any other Revised Code 

provision to impose a mandatory prison term for the offense, the 

court shall impose the required mandatory prison term as the 

minimum term imposed under division (A)(1)(a) or (2)(a) of this 

section, whichever is applicable.

(D)(1) If a court imposes a prison term, other than a term 

of life imprisonment, for a felony of the first degree, for a 

felony of the second degree, for a felony sex offense, or for a 

felony of the third degree that is an offense of violence and 

that is not a felony sex offense, it shall include in the 
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sentence a requirement that the offender be subject to a period 

of post-release control after the offender's release from 

imprisonment, in accordance with section 2967.28 of the Revised 

Code. If a court imposes a sentence including a prison term of a 

type described in this division on or after July 11, 2006, the 

failure of a court to include a post-release control requirement 

in the sentence pursuant to this division does not negate, 

limit, or otherwise affect the mandatory period of post-release 

control that is required for the offender under division (B) of 

section 2967.28 of the Revised Code. Section 2929.191 of the 

Revised Code applies if, prior to July 11, 2006, a court imposed 

a sentence including a prison term of a type described in this 

division and failed to include in the sentence pursuant to this 

division a statement regarding post-release control.

(2) If a court imposes a prison term for a felony of the 

third, fourth, or fifth degree that is not subject to division 

(D)(1) of this section, it shall include in the sentence a 

requirement that the offender be subject to a period of post-

release control after the offender's release from imprisonment, 

in accordance with that division, if the parole board determines 

that a period of post-release control is necessary. Section 

2929.191 of the Revised Code applies if, prior to July 11, 2006, 

a court imposed a sentence including a prison term of a type 

described in this division and failed to include in the sentence 

pursuant to this division a statement regarding post-release 

control.

(E) The court shall impose sentence upon the offender in 

accordance with section 2971.03 of the Revised Code, and Chapter 

2971. of the Revised Code applies regarding the prison term or 

term of life imprisonment without parole imposed upon the 

offender and the service of that term of imprisonment if any of 
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the following apply:

(1) A person is convicted of or pleads guilty to a violent 

sex offense or a designated homicide, assault, or kidnapping 

offense, and, in relation to that offense, the offender is 

adjudicated a sexually violent predator.

(2) A person is convicted of or pleads guilty to a 

violation of division (A)(1)(b) of section 2907.02 of the 

Revised Code committed on or after January 2, 2007, and either 

the court does not impose a sentence of life without parole when 

authorized pursuant to division (B) of section 2907.02 of the 

Revised Code, or division (B) of section 2907.02 of the Revised 

Code provides that the court shall not sentence the offender 

pursuant to section 2971.03 of the Revised Code.

(3) A person is convicted of or pleads guilty to attempted 

rape committed on or after January 2, 2007, and a specification 

of the type described in section 2941.1418, 2941.1419, or 

2941.1420 of the Revised Code.

(4) A person is convicted of or pleads guilty to a 

violation of section 2905.01 of the Revised Code committed on or 

after January 1, 2008, and that section requires the court to 

sentence the offender pursuant to section 2971.03 of the Revised 

Code.

(5) A person is convicted of or pleads guilty to 

aggravated murder committed on or after January 1, 2008, and 

division (A)(2)(b)(ii) of section 2929.022, division (A)(1)(e), 

(C)(1)(a)(v), (C)(2)(a)(ii), (D)(2)(b), (D)(3)(a)(iv), or (E)(1)

(d) of section 2929.03, or division (A) or (B) of section 

2929.06 of the Revised Code requires the court to sentence the 

offender pursuant to division (B)(3) of section 2971.03 of the 
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Revised Code.

(6) A person is convicted of or pleads guilty to murder 

committed on or after January 1, 2008, and division (B)(2) of 

section 2929.02 of the Revised Code requires the court to 

sentence the offender pursuant to section 2971.03 of the Revised 

Code.

(F) If a person who has been convicted of or pleaded 

guilty to a felony is sentenced to a prison term or term of 

imprisonment under this section, sections 2929.02 to 2929.06 of 

the Revised Code, section 2929.142 of the Revised Code, section 

2971.03 of the Revised Code, or any other provision of law, 

section 5120.163 of the Revised Code applies regarding the 

person while the person is confined in a state correctional 

institution.

(G) If an offender who is convicted of or pleads guilty to 

a felony that is an offense of violence also is convicted of or 

pleads guilty to a specification of the type described in 

section 2941.142 of the Revised Code that charges the offender 

with having committed the felony while participating in a 

criminal gang, the court shall impose upon the offender an 

additional prison term of one, two, or three years.

(H)(1) If an offender who is convicted of or pleads guilty 

to aggravated murder, murder, or a felony of the first, second, 

or third degree that is an offense of violence also is convicted 

of or pleads guilty to a specification of the type described in 

section 2941.143 of the Revised Code that charges the offender 

with having committed the offense in a school safety zone or 

towards a person in a school safety zone, the court shall impose 

upon the offender an additional prison term of two years. The 

offender shall serve the additional two years consecutively to 
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and prior to the prison term imposed for the underlying offense.

(2)(a) If an offender is convicted of or pleads guilty to 

a felony violation of section 2907.22, 2907.24, 2907.241, or 

2907.25 of the Revised Code and to a specification of the type 

described in section 2941.1421 of the Revised Code and if the 

court imposes a prison term on the offender for the felony 

violation, the court may impose upon the offender an additional 

prison term as follows:

(i) Subject to division (H)(2)(a)(ii) of this section, an 

additional prison term of one, two, three, four, five, or six 

months;

(ii) If the offender previously has been convicted of or 

pleaded guilty to one or more felony or misdemeanor violations 

of section 2907.22, 2907.23, 2907.24, 2907.241, or 2907.25 of 

the Revised Code and also was convicted of or pleaded guilty to 

a specification of the type described in section 2941.1421 of 

the Revised Code regarding one or more of those violations, an 

additional prison term of one, two, three, four, five, six, 

seven, eight, nine, ten, eleven, or twelve months.

(b) In lieu of imposing an additional prison term under 

division (H)(2)(a) of this section, the court may directly 

impose on the offender a sanction that requires the offender to 

wear a real-time processing, continual tracking electronic 

monitoring device during the period of time specified by the 

court. The period of time specified by the court shall equal the 

duration of an additional prison term that the court could have 

imposed upon the offender under division (H)(2)(a) of this 

section. A sanction imposed under this division shall commence 

on the date specified by the court, provided that the sanction 

shall not commence until after the offender has served the 
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prison term imposed for the felony violation of section 2907.22, 

2907.24, 2907.241, or 2907.25 of the Revised Code and any 

residential sanction imposed for the violation under section 

2929.16 of the Revised Code. A sanction imposed under this 

division shall be considered to be a community control sanction 

for purposes of section 2929.15 of the Revised Code, and all 

provisions of the Revised Code that pertain to community control 

sanctions shall apply to a sanction imposed under this division, 

except to the extent that they would by their nature be clearly 

inapplicable. The offender shall pay all costs associated with a 

sanction imposed under this division, including the cost of the 

use of the monitoring device.

(I) At the time of sentencing, the court may recommend the 

offender for placement in a program of shock incarceration under 

section 5120.031 of the Revised Code or for placement in an 

intensive program prison under section 5120.032 of the Revised 

Code, disapprove placement of the offender in a program of shock 

incarceration or an intensive program prison of that nature, or 

make no recommendation on placement of the offender. In no case 

shall the department of rehabilitation and correction place the 

offender in a program or prison of that nature unless the 

department determines as specified in section 5120.031 or 

5120.032 of the Revised Code, whichever is applicable, that the 

offender is eligible for the placement.

If the court disapproves placement of the offender in a 

program or prison of that nature, the department of 

rehabilitation and correction shall not place the offender in 

any program of shock incarceration or intensive program prison.

If the court recommends placement of the offender in a 

program of shock incarceration or in an intensive program 
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prison, and if the offender is subsequently placed in the 

recommended program or prison, the department shall notify the 

court of the placement and shall include with the notice a brief 

description of the placement.

If the court recommends placement of the offender in a 

program of shock incarceration or in an intensive program prison 

and the department does not subsequently place the offender in 

the recommended program or prison, the department shall send a 

notice to the court indicating why the offender was not placed 

in the recommended program or prison.

If the court does not make a recommendation under this 

division with respect to an offender and if the department 

determines as specified in section 5120.031 or 5120.032 of the 

Revised Code, whichever is applicable, that the offender is 

eligible for placement in a program or prison of that nature, 

the department shall screen the offender and determine if there 

is an available program of shock incarceration or an intensive 

program prison for which the offender is suited. If there is an 

available program of shock incarceration or an intensive program 

prison for which the offender is suited, the department shall 

notify the court of the proposed placement of the offender as 

specified in section 5120.031 or 5120.032 of the Revised Code 

and shall include with the notice a brief description of the 

placement. The court shall have ten days from receipt of the 

notice to disapprove the placement.

(J) If a person is convicted of or pleads guilty to 

aggravated vehicular homicide in violation of division (A)(1) of 

section 2903.06 of the Revised Code and division (B)(2)(c) of 

that section applies, the person shall be sentenced pursuant to 

section 2929.142 of the Revised Code.
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(K)(1) The court shall impose an additional mandatory 

prison term of two, three, four, five, six, seven, eight, nine, 

ten, or eleven years on an offender who is convicted of or 

pleads guilty to a violent felony offense if the offender also 

is convicted of or pleads guilty to a specification of the type 

described in section 2941.1424 of the Revised Code that charges 

that the offender is a violent career criminal and had a firearm 

on or about the offender's person or under the offender's 

control while committing the presently charged violent felony 

offense and displayed or brandished the firearm, indicated that 

the offender possessed a firearm, or used the firearm to 

facilitate the offense. The offender shall serve the prison term 

imposed under this division consecutively to and prior to the 

prison term imposed for the underlying offense. The prison term 

shall not be reduced pursuant to section 2929.20 or 2967.19 or 

any other provision of Chapter 2967. or 5120. of the Revised 

Code. A court may not impose more than one sentence under 

division (B)(2)(a) of this section and this division for acts 

committed as part of the same act or transaction.

(2) As used in division (K)(1) of this section, "violent 

career criminal" and "violent felony offense" have the same 

meanings as in section 2923.132 of the Revised Code.

Section 2. That existing sections 2909.05, 2917.02, 

2917.03, 2917.11, 2923.31, and 2929.14 of the Revised Code are 

hereby repealed.

Section 3. The General Assembly, applying the principle 

stated in division (B) of section 1.52 of the Revised Code that 

amendments are to be harmonized if reasonably capable of 

simultaneous operation, finds that the following sections, 

presented in this act as composites of the sections as amended 
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by the acts indicated, are the resulting versions of the 

sections in effect prior to the effective date of the sections 

as presented in this act:

Section 2923.31 of the Revised Code as amended by both 

H.B. 199 and H.B. 405 of the 132nd General Assembly.

Section 2929.14 of the Revised Code as amended by H.B. 63, 

S.B. 1, S.B. 20, and S.B. 201, all of the 132nd General 

Assembly.
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